

washington state Recreation and Conservation Office

**RCO Tribal Project Agreement** 

Project Sponsor: Skagit River System Cooperative

Project Number: 18-1366R

Project Title: Crescent Harbor Creek Restoration

Approval Date: 07/01/2019

#### PARTIES OF THE AGREEMENT

This Recreation and Conservation Office Agreement (Agreement) is entered into between the State of Washington by and through the Salmon Recovery Funding Board (*funding board*) and the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO), P.O. Box 40917, Olympia, Washington 98504-0917 and Skagit River System Cooperative (Sponsor, and primary Sponsor) PO Box 368, La Conner, WA 98257, and shall be binding on the agents and all persons acting by or through the parties.

The Sponsor's Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number is 119559615.

All Sponsors are equally and independently subject to all the conditions of this Agreement except those conditions that expressly apply only to the primary Sponsor.

The identified Authorized Representative(s)/Agent(s) have full authority to legally bind the Sponsor(s) regarding all matters related to the project, including but not limited to, full authority to: (1) enter into this project agreement on behalf of the Sponsor(s), (2) enter any amendments thereto on behalf of the Sponsors. Agreements and amendments must be signed by the Authorized Representative/Agent(s) of all sponsors, unless otherwise allowed in Amendments to Agreement Section.

For the purposes of this Agreement, as well as for grant management purposes with RCO, only the primary Sponsor may act as a fiscal agent to obtain reimbursements (See PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS Section).

#### PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement sets out the terms and conditions by which a grant is made from the State Building Construction Account of the State of Washington. This grant is administered by the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO).

#### **DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT**

Complete final design and permitting leading to construction for restoration of 1,400 feet of Crescent Harbor Creek between Crescent Harbor Road and the estuary. This project advances the previously SRFB-funded design phase (RCO #13-1112). The restoration will reestablish meanders, pools and other stream complexity that was lost when the stream was ditched and straightened decades ago. The restoration will reconnect the channel downstream of Crescent Harbor Road to the adjacent floodplain, and will add more than 400 feet of length to the current ditched 1,000 foot channel by returning the channel to its historic alignment. A roughened channel approximately 40 ft long will be utilized downstream to the culvert under Crescent Harbor Road to prevent scour erosion

at high velocities and enable fish passage upstream. Project will ultimately benefit ESA listed Chinook salmon and steelhead trout, along with coho, pink and chum salmon.

#### PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE

The period of performance begins on July 1, 2019 (project start date) and ends on December 31, 2022 (project end date). No allowable cost incurred before or after this period is eligible for reimbursement unless specifically provided for by written amendment or addendum to this Agreement, or specifically provided for by applicable RCWs, WACs, and any applicable RCO manuals as of the effective date of this Agreement.

The Sponsor must request extensions of the period of performance at least 60 days before the project end date.

#### STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS INCORPORATED

The Standard Terms and Conditions of the Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference as part of this Agreement.

#### LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

For this restoration project, the Sponsor's long-term obligations for the project area shall be for a term of 10 years, or more as specified in the Landowner Agreement, beginning at project completion, or as otherwise identified in the Agreement or as approved by the funding board or RCO.

Where conflicts may exist between this section and other sections of the agreement, the latter shall apply.

#### PROJECT FUNDING

The total grant award provided for this project shall not exceed <u>\$378,583.00</u>. The RCO shall not pay any amount beyond that approved for grant funding of the project and within the percentage as identified below. The Sponsor shall be responsible for all total project costs that exceed this amount. The minimum matching share provided by the Sponsor shall be as indicated below:

	<u>Percentage</u>	<u>Dollar Amount</u>	Source of Funding
SRFB - Salmon State Projects	48.84%	\$217,645.00	STATE
SRFB - Puget Sound Acq. & Restoration	36.12%	\$160,938.00	STATE
Sponsor Match	<u> </u>	\$67,000.00	
Total Project Cost	100.00%	\$445,583.00	

#### FEDERAL FUND INFORMATION.

This project is match to the following federal funding source(s) and the same provisions apply as if this project were funded by the federal funding source(s) as a federal subaward:

Federal Agency: US Dept of Commerce Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number and Name: 11.438 - PCSRF Federal Award Identification Number: NA18NMF4380271 Federal Fiscal Year: 2018 Federal Award Date: 07/30/2018 Total Federal Award: \$18,236,000 Federal Award Project Description: FY2018 Pacific Coast Salmon Recovery - Pacific Salmon Treaty Program

Sponsor's Indirect Cost Rate: 0.00% of The sponsor does not have a current federally approved indirect rate. When the rate is approved RCO will amend this grant to reflect the federally approved indirect rate.

This funding is not research and development (R&D).

If the Sponsor's total federal expenditures are \$750,000 or more during the Sponsor's fiscal-year, the Sponsor is required to have a federal single audit conducted for that year in compliance with 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Sub Part F–Audit Requirements, Section 500 (2013). The Sponsor must provide a copy of the final audit report to RCO within nine months of the end of the Sponsor's fiscal year, unless a longer period is agreed to in advance by the federal agency identified in this section.

RCO may suspend all reimbursements if the Sponsor fails to timely provide a single federal audit; further the RCO reserves the right to suspend any and all RCO Agreement(s) with the Sponsor if such noncompliance is not promptly cured.

#### **RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS INTERPRETED IN LIGHT OF RELATED DOCUMENTS**

All rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement are further specified in and shall be interpreted in light of the Sponsor's application and the project summary and eligible scope activities under which the Agreement has been approved as well as documents produced in the course of administering the Agreement, including the eligible scope activities, the milestones report, progress reports, and the final report. Provided, to the extent that information contained in such documents is irreconcilably in conflict with this Agreement, it shall not be used to vary the terms of the Agreement, unless those terms are shown to be subject to an unintended error or omission. This "Agreement" as used here and elsewhere in this document, unless otherwise specifically stated, has the meaning set forth in the definitions of the Standard Terms and Conditions.

#### AMENDMENTS TO AGREEMENT

Except as provided herein, no amendment (including without limitation, deletions) of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement will be effective unless provided in writing signed by all parties. Extensions of the period of performance and minor scope adjustments consented to in writing (including email) by the Sponsor need only be signed by RCO's director or designee, unless otherwise provided for in another agreement a Sponsor has with the RCO. This exception does not apply to a federal government Sponsor or a Sponsor that requests and enters into a formal amendment for extensions or minor scope adjustments.

It is the responsibility of a Sponsor to ensure that any person who signs an amendment on its behalf is duly authorized to do so, and such signature shall be binding on the Sponsor.

Any amendment to this Agreement, unless otherwise expressly stated, shall be deemed to include all applicable federal, state, and local government laws and rules, and policies applicable and active and published in the applicable RCO manuals or on the RCO website in effect as of the effective date of the amendment, without limitation to the subject matter of the amendment. Provided, any update in law, rule, policy or a manual that is incorporated as a result of an amendment shall apply only prospectively and shall not require that an act previously done in compliance with existing requirements be redone.

#### COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATUTES, RULES, AND POLICIES

This Agreement is governed by, and the sponsor shall comply with, all applicable state and federal laws and regulations, applicable RCO manuals as identified below, and any applicable federal program and accounting rules effective as of the date of this Agreement, and with respect to any amendments to this Agreement, as of the effective date of that amendment.

Provided, any update in law, rule, policy or a manual that is incorporated as a result of an amendment shall apply only prospectively and shall not require that an act previously done in compliance with existing requirements be redone.

For the purpose of this Agreement <u>all applicable RCO WACs and funding board policies</u> shall apply as terms of this Agreement.

For the purpose of this Agreement, the following RCO manuals are deemed applicable and shall apply as terms of this Agreement:

- Restoration Projects Manual 5
- Long Term Obligations Manual 7
- Reimbursements Manual 8
- Salmon Recovery Grants Manual 18

Any applicable tribal preference laws may otherwise apply for a Sponsor that is a

federally recognized Indian Tribe provided such preference laws are consistent with federal law.

#### SPECIAL CONDITIONS

#### Special Condition #1. Federal Nexus

This project appears to be subject to the National Historic Preservation Act, Section 106, and therefore appears to be exempt from Governor's Executive Order 05-05 Archaeological and Cultural Resources (EO 05-05) as described in the terms of this project agreement. In order for this project to be exempt from EO 05-05, the Section 106 Area of Potential Effect (APE) must include all ground-disturbing activities subject to this project agreement, including any staging area. The sponsor is encouraged to work with the federal permitting agency to align the Section 106 APE with the scope of work subject to this project agreement. If the APE does not include all ground-disturbing activities subject to this project agreement, promptly notify the RCO grant manager, as this will require RCO to initiate cultural resources consultation following EO 05-05 for those activities not included in the federal APE. RCO will withhold reimbursement of development or restoration expenditures until this requirement is met. For acquisition projects, final payment will be withheld until evidence of cultural resources review is provided. All cultural resources work must meet reporting guidelines outlined by the Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation and Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act. In the event that archaeological materials or human remains are discovered within the project area, work in the immediate vicinity must stop, and the Sponsor must ensure compliance with the provisions found in this agreement and under state and federal law.

#### AGREEMENT CONTACTS

The parties will provide all written communications and notices under this Agreement to the mail address or the email address listed below if not both:

#### Sponsor Project Contact Steve Hinton

1003 Cleveland Avenue, Suite A Mount Vernon, WA 98273 STEVE@SALISHALLIANCE.ORG

#### RCO Contact

Amee Bahr Natural Resources Building PO Box 40917 Olympia, WA 98504-0917 Amee.Bahr@rco.wa.gov

These addresses and contacts shall be effective until receipt by one party from the other of a written notice of any change.

#### ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement, with all amendments and attachments, including the Eligible Scope of Work, Project Milestones, constitutes the entire Agreement of the parties. No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding this Agreement shall exist or bind any of the parties.

#### EFFECTIVE DATE

This Agreement, for the project, shall be subject to the written approval of the RCO's authorized representative and shall not be effective and binding until the date signed by both the sponsor and the RCO, whichever is later (Effective Date).

Reimbursements for eligible and allowable costs incurred within the period of performance identified in the PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE Section are allowed only when this Agreement is fully executed and an original is received by RCO.

The Sponsor has read, fully understands, and agrees to be bound by all terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement and the STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE RECREATION AND CONSERVATION OFFICE AGREEMENT. The signators listed below represent and warrant their authority to bind the parties to this Agreement.

**Skagit River System Cooperative** 

By: Authorized Representative Agent

Date:

Name (printed): Jason L. Joseph

Title: Boord

State of Washington Recreation and Conservation Office On behalf of the [board]

By:

Date: 5/5/2020

Authorized Representative/Agent Recreation and Conservation Office

Pre-approved as to form

9.00

Date: 12/18/2019

By: Assistant Attorney General RECEIVED

APR 302020

WA STATE RECREATION AND CONSERVATION OFFICE

Project Number: 18-1366R Revised December 18, 2019

Page 6 of 48

#### **Eligible Scope Activities**

estoration Metrics	
Worksite #1, Lower Crescent Harbor Creek	
Targeted salmonid ESU/DPS (A.23):	Chinook Salmon-Puget Sound ESU, Coho Salmon-Puget Sound/Strait of Georgia ESU
Targeted species (non-ESU species):	Cutthroat
Miles of Stream and/or Shoreline Treated or Protected (C.0.b):	0.28
Project Identified In a Plan or Watershed Assessment (C.0.c):	EDAW, PWA, and obec. 2008. Naval Air Station Whidbey Island P-8A Multi-Mission Aircraft Introduction: Wetland Mitigation Feasibility Report. Sacramento, CA.
Type Of Monitoring (C.0.d.1):	Implementation Monitoring
Instream Habitat Project	
Total Miles Of Instream Habitat Treated (C.4.b):	0.30
Channel reconfiguration and connectivity (C.4.c.1)	
Type of change to channel configuration and connectivity (C.4.c.2):	Channel Bed Restored, Creation of Instream Pools, Creation/Connection to Off-Channel Habitat. Meanders Added
Miles of Stream Treated for channel reconfiguration and connectivity	0.30
(C.4.c.3): Miles of Off-Channel Stream Created or Connected (C.4.c.4):	0.30
Acres Of Channel/Off-Channel Connected Or Added (C.4.c.5):	1.3
Instream Pools Created/Added (C.4.c.6):	13
Channel structure placement (C.4.d.1)	
Material Used For Channel Structure (C.4.d.2):	Individual Logs (Unanchored), Stumps With Roots Attached (Rootwads), Weirs
Miles of Stream Treated for channel structure placement (C.4.d.3):	0.30
Pools Created through channel structure placement (C.4.d.5):	13
Number of structures placed in channel (C.4,d.7):	74
Spawning gravel placement (C.4.f.1)	성규는 지 이 것 되는 것이 못 하는 것 같다.
Miles of Stream Treated with spawning gravel placement (C.4.f.2):	0.30
Cubic Yards of spawning gravel placed (C.4.f.3):	578
Riparian Habitat Project	
Total Riparian Miles Streambank Treated (C.5.b.1):	0.60
Total Riparian Acres Treated (C.5.b.2):	2.0
Planting (C.5.c.1)	
Acres Planted in riparian (C.5.c.3): Miles of streambank planted (C.5.c.4):	1.0 0.60
Cultural Resources	0.00
Cultural resources	
수가 많은 것 물건이 많은 것을 하는 것 같아요. 그는 것 같아요. 것 같아요.	
Permits	
Obtain permits	
Architectural & Engineering	
Architectural & Engineering (A&E)	
Agency Indirect Costs	
igency maneet costs	

### **Project Milestones**

#### PROJECT MILESTONE REPORT

Complete	Milestone	Target Date	Comments/Description
X	Preliminary Design to RCO	12/31/2018	Completed with SRFB Grant #13-1112
x	Project Start	07/01/2019	
	Progress Report Due	06/30/2020	
	Landowner Agreement to RCO	07/15/2020	
	Annual Project Billing Due	11/30/2020	
	Progress Report Due	12/01/2020	
	Applied for Permits	12/31/2020	
	Cultural Resources Complete	12/31/2020	Evidence of compliance with Section 106 required
	Final Design to RCO	12/31/2020	As-built.
	Other	03/31/2021	All Bid Docs/Plans to RCO
	Bid Awarded/Contractor Hired	05/31/2021	
	Progress Report Due	06/30/2021	
	Restoration Started	06/30/2021	
	Restoration Complete	08/31/2021	50% complete
	Restoration Complete	10/31/2021	90% complete
	Annual Project Billing Due	11/30/2021	
	Progress Report Due	12/31/2021	
	Funding Acknowl Sign Posted	12/31/2021	
	Restoration Complete	12/31/2021	100% complete
	RCO Final Inspection	12/31/2021	
	Stewardship Plan to RCO	12/31/2021	
	Progress Report Due	06/30/2022	
	Agreement End Date	12/31/2022	
	Final Report Due	02/28/2023	
	Final Billing Due	02/28/2023	

# Standard Terms and Conditions of the Recreation and Conservation Office

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS EFFECTIVE DATE	11
CITATIONS, HEADINGS AND DEFINITIONS	11
PERFORMANCE BY THE SPONSOR	15
ASSIGNMENT	15
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT	15
	16
INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE SPONSOR	16
CONFLICT OF INTEREST	17
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW	17
RECORDS	19
PROJECT FUNDING	20
PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS	20
ADVANCE PAYMENTS	21
RECOVERY OF PAYMENTS	22
COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES	22
INCOME (AND FEES) AND USE OF INCOME	22
PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS	23
TREATMENT OF EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS	24
RIGHT OF INSPECTION	24
STEWARDSHIP AND MONITORING	24
ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND SIGNS	24
PROVISIONS APPLYING TO ACQUISITION PROJECTS	25
PROVISIONS APPLYING TO DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE, RENOVATION, AND RESTORATION PROJECTS	27

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROJECTS AND SPONSORS	28
CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, USE, AND MAINTENANCE OF ASSISTED PROJECTS	29
PROVISIONS FOR SALMON RECOVERY FUNDING BOARD PROJECTS	30
PROVISIONS FOR ANY FEDERAL FUND SOURCE	
PROVISIONS FOR STATE PUGET SOUND AQUISTION AND RESTORATION FUNDS	
ORDER OF PRECEDENCE	40
	•
WAIVER OF DEFAULT	41
APPLICATION REPRESENTATIONS-MISREPRESENTATIONS OR INACCURACY OR BREACH	41
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE	41
TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION	41
DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
GOVERNING LAW/VENUE	46
PROVISIONS FOR FEDERALLY RECOGNIZED INDIAN TRIBES	46
SEVERABILITY	48
END OF AGREEMENT	48

#### STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS EFFECTIVE DATE

This agreement reflects Standard Terms and Conditions as of 12/18/2019.

#### **CITATIONS, HEADINGS AND DEFINITIONS**

- A. Any citations referencing specific documents refer to the current version on the effective date of this Agreement or the effective date of any amendment thereto.
- B. Headings used in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not be considered a substantive part of this Agreement.
- C. Definitions. As used throughout this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below:

**acquisition project**–A project that purchases or receives a donation of fee or less than fee interests in real property. These interests include, but are not limited to, conservation easements, access/trail easements, covenants, water rights, leases, and mineral rights.

**Agreement or project agreement**–The document entitled "RCO Tribal Project Agreement" accepted by all parties to the present project and transaction, including without limitation the Standard Terms and Conditions of the Recreation and Conservation Office Agreement, all attachments, addendums, and amendments, and any intergovernmental agreements or other documents that are incorporated into the Agreement subject to any limitations on their effect.

**applicable manual(s)**–A manual designated in this Agreement to apply as terms of this Agreement, subject to substitution of the "RCO director" for instances where the term "board" occurs.

**applicable WAC(s)**–Designated chapters or provisions of the Washington Administrative Code that are deemed under this Agreement to apply as terms of the Agreement, subject to substitution of the "RCO director" for instances where the term "board" occurs.

**applicant**–Any party that meets the qualifying standards, including deadlines, for submission of an application soliciting a grant of funds administered by RCO.

**application**—The documents and other materials that an applicant submits to the RCO to support the applicant's request for grant funds; this includes materials required for the "Application" in the RCO's automated project information system, and other documents as noted on the application checklist including but not limited to legal opinions, maps, plans, evaluation presentations and scripts.

Authorized Representative/Agent–A Sponsor's agent (employee, political appointee, elected person, etc.) authorized to be the signatory of this Agreement and any amendments requiring a Sponsor signature. This person has the signature authority to bind the Sponsor to this Agreement, grant, and project.

#### C.F.R.-Code of Federal Regulations

**contractor**—An entity that receives a contract from a Sponsor related to performance of work or another obligation under this Agreement.

**conversion**–A conversion occurs 1) when facilities acquired, developed, renovated or restored within the project area are changed to a use other than that for which funds were approved, without obtaining prior written formal RCO or board approval, 2) when property interests are conveyed to a third party not otherwise eligible to receive grants in the program from which funding was approved without obtaining prior written formal RCO or board approval, or 3) when obligations to operate and maintain the funded property are not complied with after reasonable opportunity to cure.

**director**—The chief executive officer of the Recreation and Conservation Office or that person's designee.

effective date—The date when the signatures of all parties to this agreement are present in the agreement.

equipment–Tangible personal property (including information technology systems) having a useful service life of more than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost which equals or exceeds the lesser of the capitalization level established by the Sponsor or \$5,000 (2 C.F.R. § 200.33 (2013)).

**funding board or board**—The Washington State Recreation and Conservation Funding Board, or the Washington State Salmon Recovery Funding Board, or both as may apply.

**Funding Entity**-the entity that approves the project that is the subject to this Agreement.

**grant program**—The source of the grant funds received. May be an account in the state treasury, or a grant category within a larger grant program, or a federal source.

indirect cost-Costs incurred for a common or joint purpose benefitting more than one cost objective, and not readily assignable to the cost objectives specifically benefitted, without effort disproportionate to the results achieved (2 C.F.R. § 200.56 (2013)).

long-term compliance period-The period of time after the project end date

or end of the period of performance (depending on the project types and grant program). During this period, the Sponsor has continuing obligations under the Agreement. This period may have a nonspecific end date (in perpetuity) or an expressly specified number of years.

**long-term obligations**–Sponsor's obligations after the project end date, as specified in the Agreement and applicable regulations and policies.

**match or matching share**—The portion of the total project cost provided by the Sponsor.

**milestone**—An important event with a defined date to track an activity related to implementation of a funded project and monitor significant stages of project accomplishment.

Office-Means the Recreation and Conservation Office or RCO.

**pass-through entity**–A non-Federal entity that provides a subaward to a subrecipient to carry out part of a Federal program (2 C. F. R. § 200.74 (2013)). If this Agreement is a federal subaward, RCO is the pass-through entity.

**period of performance**—The period beginning on the project start date and ending on the project end date.

**pre-agreement cost**-A project cost incurred before the period of performance.

**primary Sponsor**—The Sponsor who is not a secondary Sponsor and who is specifically identified in the Agreement as the entity to which RCO grants funds to and authorizes and requires to administer the grant. This administration includes but is not limited to acting as the fiscal agent for the grant (e.g. requesting and accepting reimbursements, submitting reports). Primary Sponsor includes its officers, employees, agents and successors.

**project**—An undertaking that is, or may be, funded in whole or in part with funds administered by RCO.

**project area**–A geographic area that delineates a grant assisted site which is subject to project agreement requirements.

**project cost**–The total allowable costs incurred under this Agreement and all required match share and voluntary committed matching share, including third-party contributions (see also 2 C.F.R. § 200.83 (2013) for federally funded projects).

**project end date**—The specific date identified in the Agreement on which the period of performance ends, as may be changed by amendment. This date is

not the end date for any long-term obligations.

**project start date**—The specific date identified in the Agreement on which the period of performance starts.

**RCO**–Recreation and Conservation Office–The state agency that administers the grant that is the subject of this Agreement. RCO includes the director and staff.

**reimbursement**–RCO's payment of funds from eligible and allowable costs that have already been paid by the Sponsor per the terms of the Agreement.

**renovation project**–A project intended to improve an existing site or structure in order to increase its useful service life beyond current expectations or functions. This does not include maintenance activities to maintain the facility for its originally expected useful service life.

RCW-Revised Code of Washington

**secondary Sponsor**–One of two or more Sponsors who is not a primary Sponsor. Only the primary Sponsor may be the fiscal agent for the project.

**Sponsor**–A Sponsor is an organization that is listed in and has signed this Agreement.

**Sponsor Authorized Representative/Agent**–A Sponsor's agent (employee, political appointee, elected person, etc.) authorized to be the signatory of this Agreement and any amendments requiring a Sponsor signature. This person has the signature authority to bind the Sponsor to this Agreement, grant, and project.

SRFB-Salmon Recovery Funding Board

**subaward**–Funds allocated to the RCO from another organization, for which RCO makes available to or assigns to another organization via this Agreement. Also, a subaward may be an award provided by a pass-through entity to a subrecipient for the subrecipient to carry out part of any award received by the pass-through entity. It does not include payments to a contractor or payments to an individual that is a beneficiary of a federal or other program. A subaward may be provided through any form of legal agreement, including an agreement that the pass-through entity considers a contract. Also see 2 C.F.R. § 200.92 (2013). For federal subawards, a subaward is for the purpose of carrying out a portion of a Federal award and creates a federal assistance relationship with the subrecipient (2 C.F.R. § 200.330 (2013)). If this Agreement is a federal subaward, the subaward amount is the grant program amount in the Project Funding Section.

subrecipient-Subrecipient means an entity that receives a subaward. For

non-federal entities receiving federal funds, a subrecipient is an entity that receives a subaward from a pass-through entity to carry out part of a federal program; but does not include an individual that is a beneficiary of such program. A subrecipient may also be a recipient of other federal awards directly from a federal awarding agency (2 C.F.R. § 200.93 (2013)). If this Agreement is a federal subaward, the Sponsor is the subrecipient.

**useful service life**—Period during which an asset or property is expected to be useable for the purpose it was acquired, developed, renovated, and/or restored per this Agreement.

WAC-Washington Administrative Code.

#### PERFORMANCE BY THE SPONSOR

The Sponsor shall undertake the project as described in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Sponsor's proposed goals and objectives described in the application or documents submitted with the application, all as finally approved by the RCO. All submitted documents are incorporated by this reference as if fully set forth herein.

Timely completion of the project and submission of required documents, including progress and final reports, is important. Failure to meet critical milestones or complete the project, as set out in this Agreement, is a material breach of the Agreement.

#### ASSIGNMENT

Neither this Agreement, nor any claim arising under this Agreement, shall be transferred or assigned by the Sponsor without prior written consent of the RCO.

#### **RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT**

While RCO administers the grant that is the subject of this Agreement, the project itself remains the sole responsibility of the Sponsor. The RCO and Funding Entity (if different from the RCO) undertakes no responsibilities to the Sponsor, or to any third party, other than as is expressly set out in this Agreement. The responsibility for the implementation of the project is solely that of the Sponsor. When a project is Sponsored by more than one entity, any and all Sponsors are equally responsible for the project and all post-completion stewardship responsibilities and long-term obligations unless otherwise stated in this Agreement.

The RCO has no responsibility for reviewing, approving, overseeing or supervising design or construction of the project and leaves such review, approval, oversight and supervision exclusively to the Sponsor and others with expertise or authority. In this respect, the RCO will act only to confirm at a general, lay, and nontechnical level, solely for the purpose of compliance and payment and not for safety or suitability, that the project has apparently been completed as per the Agreement.

#### INDEMNIFICATION

Subject to the limitations provided in this Agreement, the Sponsor shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO), the Recreation and Conservation Funding Board, the Salmon Recovery Funding Board, collectively referred to herein as "the RCO"; and its officers and employees harmless from all damage, loss, claims, demands, or suits at law or equity arising in whole or in part from the actual or alleged acts, errors, omissions or negligence in connection with this Agreement (including without limitation all work or activities thereunder), or the breach of any obligation under this Agreement, by the Sponsor or the Sponsor's agents, employees, contractors, and subcontractors of any tier, or any persons for whom the Sponsor may be vicariously liable. If the RCO is immune from suit pursuant to a specific statutory exemption and or limitation as to the particular claim, demand(s), or suit(s) at law or equity, the Sponsor shall have no obligation to defend, indemnify or hold the RCO harmless. Should this section conflict with any other section of this Agreement, the terms of this section shall take precedence.

Provided that nothing herein shall require a Sponsor to defend or indemnify the RCO against and hold harmless the RCO from claims, demands or suits at law or equity based solely upon the negligence of the RCO, its employees and/or agents for whom the RCO is vicariously liable.

Provided further that if the claims or suits are caused by or result from the concurrent negligence of (a) the Sponsor or the Sponsor's agents or employees, contractors, and subcontractors of any tier, or any persons for whom the Sponsor is vicariously liable, and (b) the RCO its employees and agents, contractors, and subcontractors of any tier or any for whom it is vicariously liable, the indemnity obligation shall be valid and enforceable only to the extent of the Sponsor's negligence or the negligence of the Sponsor's agents, employees, contractors, and subcontractors of any tier, or any persons for whom the Sponsor is vicariously liable.

In the event a tribal employee files suit against the RCO for damages sustained in an occupational injury occurring while the tribal employee is performing services pursuant to this agreement, and RCO seeks indemnification by the tribe under this agreement for such a damages claim, the tribe shall waive and not assert immunity under the tribe's or the State's workers' compensation laws. The tribe's agreement not to assert its immunity under workers' compensation laws applies only to a claim by RCO for indemnification under this agreement, and does not preclude the tribe from asserting immunity or any other viable defenses to a claim by either a tribal employee or a third party.

#### INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE SPONSOR

The Sponsor and its employees or agents performing under this Agreement are not officers, employees or agents of the RCO or Funding Entity. The Sponsor will not hold itself out as nor claim to be an officer, employee or agent of the RCO or the Funding Entity, or of the state of Washington, nor will the Sponsor make any claim of right,

privilege or benefit which would accrue to an employee under RCW 41.06.

The Sponsor is responsible for withholding and/or paying employment taxes, insurance, or deductions of any kind required by applicable federal, state, and/or local laws.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Notwithstanding any determination by the Executive Ethics Board or other tribunal, RCO may, in its sole discretion, by written notice to the Sponsor terminate this Agreement if it is found after due notice and examination by RCO that there is a violation of the Ethics in Public Service Act, RCW 42.52 if applicable; or any similar applicable statute involving the Sponsor in the procurement of, or performance under, this Agreement.

In the event this Agreement is terminated as provided herein, RCO shall be entitled to pursue the same remedies against the Sponsor as it could pursue in the event of a breach of the Agreement by the Sponsor. The rights and remedies of RCO provided for in this clause shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or this Agreement.

#### COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW

In implementing the Agreement, the Sponsor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including without limitation all applicable ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations).

A. Nondiscrimination Laws. The Sponsor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local nondiscrimination laws and/or policies, including but not limited to: the Americans with Disabilities Act; Civil Rights Act; and the Age Discrimination Act; provided, however, if consistent with federal law, the applicable tribal preference laws may otherwise apply if the Sponsor is a federally recognized Indian Tribe. In the event of the Sponsor's noncompliance or refusal to comply with any nondiscrimination law or policy, the Agreement may be rescinded, cancelled, or terminated in whole or in part, and the Sponsor may be declared ineligible for further grant awards from the RCO or Funding Entity. The Sponsor is responsible for any and all costs or liability arising from the Sponsor's failure to so comply with applicable law. Except where a nondiscrimination clause required by a federal funding agency is used, the Sponsor shall insert the following nondiscrimination clause in each contract for construction of this project:

"During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees to comply with all applicable federal and state nondiscrimination laws, regulations and policies."

B. Secular Use of Funds. No funds awarded under this grant may be used to pay for any religious activities, worship, or instruction, or for lands and facilities for religious activities, worship, or instruction. Religious activities, worship, or instruction may be a minor use of the grant supported recreation and conservation land or facility. C. Wages and Job Safety. The Sponsor agrees to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies of the United States and the State of Washington or other jurisdiction which affect wages and job safety. The Sponsor agrees when state prevailing wage laws (RCW 39.12) are applicable, to comply with such laws, to pay the prevailing rate of wage to all workers, laborers, or mechanics employed in the performance of any part of this contract, and to file a statement of intent to pay prevailing wage with the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries as required by RCW 39.12.40. The Sponsor also agrees to comply with applicable provisions of the rules and regulations of the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries. However, applicable tribal wage and safety rules and preferences may otherwise apply if the Sponsor is a federally recognized Indian Tribe.

If Sponsor is a federally recognized Indian Tribe, the following shall apply: The Tribe shall provide workers compensation coverage for all of its employees in accordance with applicable tribal worker's compensation laws. To the extent grant funded employees are not subject to tribal workers compensation program coverage, they shall be covered by applicable state or federal workers compensation laws, and the Tribe shall not assert immunity under such workers compensation laws for actions brought under such laws by its employees or agents; and if such employees are not subject to state or federal workers compensation laws, the Tribe shall require employees to be insured under Employer's Contingent Liability (Stop Gap) with a minimum coverage limit of \$1,000,000 on accident and aggregate.

D. Archaeological and Cultural Resources. RCO facilitates the review of applicable projects for potential impacts to archaeological sites and state cultural resources. The Sponsor must assist RCO in compliance with Governor's Executive Order 05-05 or the National Historic Preservation Act before and after initiating ground-disturbing activity or construction, repair, installation, rehabilitation, renovation, or maintenance work on lands, natural resources, or structures. The funding board requires documented compliance with Executive Order 05-05 or Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, whichever is applicable to the project. If a federal agency declines to consult, the Sponsor shall comply with the requirements of Executive Order 05-05. In the event that archaeological or historic materials are discovered during project activities, work in the location of discovery and immediate vicinity must stop instantly, the area must be secured, and notification must be provided to the following: concerned Tribes' cultural staff and cultural committees, RCO, and the State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation. If human remains are discovered during project activity, work in the location of discovery and immediate vicinity must stop instantly, the area must be secured, and notification provided to the concerned Tribe's cultural staff and cultural committee, RCO, State Department of Archaeology, the coroner and local law enforcement in the most expeditious manner possible according to RCW 68.50.

E. **Restrictions on Grant Use.** No part of any funds provided under this grant shall be used, other than for normal and recognized executive-legislative relationships, for publicity or propaganda purposes, or for the preparation, distribution, or use of any kit, pamphlet, booklet, publication, radio, television, or video presentation designed to support or defeat legislation pending before the U.S. Congress or any state legislature.

No part of any funds provided under this grant shall be used to pay the salary or expenses of any Sponsor, or agent acting for such Sponsor, related to any activity designed to influence legislation or appropriations pending before the U.S. Congress or any state legislature.

F. Debarment and Certification. By signing the Agreement with RCO, the Sponsor certifies that neither it nor its principals nor any other lower tier participant are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by Washington State Labor and Industries. Further, the Sponsor agrees not to enter into any arrangements or contracts related to this Agreement with any party that is on Washington State Department of Labor and Industries' "Debarred Contractor List."

#### RECORDS

- A. **Digital Records.** If requested by RCO, the Sponsor must provide a digital file(s) of the project property and funded project site in a format specified by the RCO.
- B. Maintenance. The Sponsor shall maintain books, records, documents, data and other evidence relating to this Agreement and performance of the services described herein, including but not limited to accounting procedures and practices which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any nature expended in the performance of this Agreement. Sponsor shall retain such records for a period of six years from the date RCO deems the project complete, as defined in the PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS Section. If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six (6) year period, the records shall be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records have been resolved.
- C. Access to Records and Data. At no additional cost, the records relating to the Agreement, including materials generated under the Agreement, shall be subject at all reasonable times to inspection, review or audit by RCO, personnel duly authorized by RCO, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal and state officials so authorized by law, regulation or agreement. This includes access to all information that supports the costs submitted for payment under the grant and all findings, conclusions, and recommendations of the Sponsor's reports, including computer models and methodology for those models.

D. Public Records. Sponsor acknowledges that the RCO is subject to RCW 42.56 and that this Agreement and any records Sponsor submits or has submitted to the State shall be a public record as defined in RCW 42.56. RCO administers public records requests per WAC 286-06 and 420-04 (which ever applies). Additionally, the Sponsor agrees to disclose any information in regards to the expenditure of that funding as if the project sponsor were subject to the requirements of chapter 42.56 RCW. By submitting any record to RCO, Sponsor understands that RCO may be requested to disclose or copy that record under the state public records law, currently codified at RCW 42.56. The Sponsor warrants that it possesses such legal rights as are necessary to permit RCO to disclose and copy such document to respond to a request under state public records laws. The Sponsor hereby agrees to release RCO from any claims arising out of allowing such review or copying pursuant to a public records act request, and to indemnify against any claims arising from allowing such review or copying, provided that RCO follows RCW 42.56 and applicable regulations and guidance.

#### PROJECT FUNDING

- A. **Authority.** This Agreement and funding is made available to Sponsor through the RCO.
- B. Additional Amounts. The RCO or Funding Entity shall not be obligated to pay any amount beyond the dollar amount as identified in this Agreement, unless an additional amount has been approved in advance by the RCO director and incorporated by written amendment into this Agreement.
- C. Before the Agreement. No expenditure made, or obligation incurred, by the Sponsor before the project start date shall be eligible for grant funds, in whole or in part, unless specifically provided for by the RCO director, such as a waiver of retroactivity or program specific eligible pre-Agreement costs. For reimbursements of such costs, this Agreement must be fully executed and an original received by RCO. The dollar amounts identified in this Agreement may be reduced as necessary to exclude any such expenditure from reimbursement.
- D. After the Period of Performance. No expenditure made, or obligation incurred, following the period of performance shall be eligible, in whole or in part, for grant funds hereunder. In addition to any remedy the RCO or Funding Entity may have under this Agreement, the grant amounts identified in this Agreement shall be reduced to exclude any such expenditure from participation.

#### PROJECT REIMBURSEMENTS

A. **Reimbursement Basis.** This Agreement is administered on a reimbursement basis per WAC 286-13 and/or 420-12, which ever has been designated to apply. Only the primary Sponsor may request reimbursement for eligible and allowable costs incurred during the period of performance. The primary Sponsor may only request reimbursement after (1) this Agreement has been fully executed and (2) the Sponsor has remitted payment to its vendors. RCO will authorize disbursement of project funds only on a reimbursable basis at the percentage as defined in the PROJECT FUNDING Section. Reimbursement shall not be approved for any expenditure not incurred by the Sponsor or for a donation used as part of its matching share. RCO does not reimburse for donations. All reimbursement requests must include proper documentation of expenditures as required by RCO.

- B. **Reimbursement Request Frequency.** The primary Sponsor is required to submit a reimbursement request to RCO, at a minimum for each project at least once a year for reimbursable activities occurring between July 1 and June 30 or as identified in the milestones. Sponsors must refer to the most recent applicable RCO manuals and this Agreement regarding reimbursement requirements.
- C. **Compliance and Payment.** The obligation of RCO to pay any amount(s) under this Agreement is expressly conditioned on strict compliance with the terms of this Agreement and other agreements between RCO and the Sponsor.
- D. **Retainage Held Until Project Complete.** RCO reserves the right to withhold disbursement of the total amount of the grant to the Sponsor until the project has been completed. A project is considered "complete" when:
  - 1. All approved or required activities outlined in the Agreement are done;
  - 2. On-site signs are in place (if applicable);
  - 3. A final project report is submitted to and accepted by RCO;
  - 4. Any other required documents and media are complete and submitted to RCO;
  - 5. A final reimbursement request is submitted to RCO;
  - 6. The completed project has been accepted by RCO;
  - 7. Final amendments have been processed;
  - 8. Fiscal transactions are complete, and
  - 9. RCO has accepted a final boundary map of the project area for which the Agreement terms will apply in the future.

#### ADVANCE PAYMENTS

Advance payments of or in anticipation of goods or services are not allowed unless approved by the RCO director and are consistent with legal requirements and Manual 8: Reimbursements.

#### **RECOVERY OF PAYMENTS**

- A. **Recovery for Noncompliance.** In the event that the Sponsor fails to expend funds under this Agreement in accordance with applicable state and federal laws, and/or the provisions of the Agreement, or meet its percentage of the project total, RCO reserves the right to recover grant award funds in the amount equivalent to the extent of noncompliance in addition to any other remedies available at law or in equity.
- B. Overpayment Payments. The Sponsor shall reimburse RCO for any overpayment or erroneous payments made under the Agreement. Repayment by the Sponsor of such funds under this recovery provision shall occur within 30 days of demand by RCO. Interest shall accrue at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum from the time that payment becomes due and owing.

#### COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES

The Sponsor warrants that no person or selling agent has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this Agreement on an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee, excepting bona fide employees or bona fide established agents maintained by the Sponsor for the purpose of securing business. RCO shall have the right, in the event of breach of this clause by the Sponsor, to terminate this Agreement without liability or, in its discretion, to deduct from the Agreement grant amount or consideration or recover by other means the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee.

#### INCOME (AND FEES) AND USE OF INCOME

- A. **Compatible source.** The source of any income generated in a funded project or project area must be compatible with the funding source and the Agreement and any applicable manuals, RCWs, and WACs.
- B. Use of Income. Subject to any limitations contained in applicable state or federal law and applicable rules and policies, income or fees generated at a project work site (including entrance, utility corridor permit, cattle grazing, timber harvesting, farming, etc.) during or after the reimbursement period cited in the Agreement, must be used to offset:
  - 1. The Sponsor's matching resources;
  - 2. The project's total cost;
  - 3. The expense of operation, maintenance, stewardship, monitoring, and/or repair of the facility or program assisted by the grant funding;
  - 4. The expense of operation, maintenance, stewardship, monitoring, and/or repair of other similar units in the Sponsor's system;

- 5. Capital expenses for similar acquisition and/or development and renovation; and/or
- 6. Other purposes explicitly approved by RCO.
- C. **Fees.** User and/or other fees may be charged in connection with land acquired or facilities developed, maintained, renovated, or restored and shall be consistent with the:
  - 1. Grant program laws, rules, and applicable manuals;
  - 2. Value of any service(s) furnished;
  - 3. Value of any opportunities furnished; and
  - 4. Prevailing range of public fees in the state for the activity involved.

#### PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS

**Procurement Requirements.** If the Sponsor has, or is required to have, a procurement process that follows applicable state and/or federal law or procurement rules and principles, it must be followed, documented, and retained. If no such process exists, the Sponsor must follow these minimum procedures:

- 1. Publish a notice to the public requesting bids/proposals for the project;
- 2. Specify in the notice the date for submittal of bids/proposals;
- 3. Specify in the notice the general procedure and criteria for selection; and
- 4. Sponsor must contract or hire from within its bid pool. If bids are unacceptable the process needs to be repeated until a suitable bid is selected.
- 5. Comply with the same legal standards regarding unlawful discrimination based upon race, gender, ethnicity, sex, or sex-orientation that are applicable to state agencies in selecting a bidder or proposer; provided, however, if consistent with federal law, the applicable tribal preference laws may otherwise apply if the Sponsor is a federally recognized Indian Tribe.

Alternatively, Sponsor may choose a bid from a bidding cooperative if authorized to do so.

This procedure creates no rights for the benefit of third parties, including any proposers, and may not be enforced or subject to review of any kind or manner by any entity other than the RCO. Sponsors may be required to certify to the RCO that they have followed any applicable state and/or federal procedures or the above minimum procedure where

state or federal procedures do not apply.

#### TREATMENT OF EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS

Equipment shall be used and managed only for the purpose of this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein or in the applicable manuals, or approved by RCO in writing.

- A. **Discontinued Use.** Equipment obtained under this Agreement shall remain in the possession of the Sponsor for the duration of the project, or RULES of applicable grant assisted program. When the Sponsor discontinues use of the equipment for the purpose for which it was funded, RCO may require the Sponsor to deliver the equipment to RCO, or to dispose of the equipment according to RCO published policies.
- B. Loss or Damage. The Sponsor shall be responsible for any loss or damage to equipment.

#### **RIGHT OF INSPECTION**

The Sponsor shall provide right of access to the project to RCO, or any of its officers, or to any other authorized agent or official of the state of Washington or the federal government, at all reasonable times, in order to monitor and evaluate performance, long-term obligations, compliance, and/or quality assurance under this Agreement. If a landowner agreement or other form of control and tenure has been executed, it will further stipulate and define the RCO's right to inspect and access lands acquired or developed with this funding assistance.

#### STEWARDSHIP AND MONITORING

Sponsor agrees to perform monitoring and stewardship functions as stated in the applicable WACs and manuals, this Agreement, or as otherwise directed by RCO consistent with the existing laws and applicable manuals. Sponsor further agrees to utilize, where applicable and financially feasible, any monitoring protocols recommended by the RCO; provided that RCO does not represent that any monitoring it may recommend will be adequate to reasonably assure project performance or safety. It is the sole responsibility of the Sponsor to perform such additional monitoring as may be adequate for such purposes.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND SIGNS

A. **Publications.** The Sponsor shall include language which acknowledges the funding contribution of the applicable grant program to this project in any release or other publication developed or modified for, or referring to, the project during the project period and in the future.

#### B. Signs.

1. During the period of performance through the period of long-term

obligation, the Sponsor shall post openly visible signs or other appropriate media at entrances and other locations on the project area that acknowledge the applicable grant program's funding contribution, unless waived by the director; and

- 2. During the period of long-term obligation, the Sponsor shall post openly visible signs or other appropriate media at entrances and other locations to notify the public of the availability of the site for reasonable public access.
- C. **Ceremonies.** The Sponsor shall notify RCO no later than two weeks before a dedication ceremony for this project. The Sponsor shall verbally acknowledge the applicable grant program's funding contribution at all dedication ceremonies.

#### **PROVISIONS APPLYING TO ACQUISITION PROJECTS**

The following provisions shall be in force:

- A. **Evidence of Land Value.** Before disbursement of funds by RCO as provided under this Agreement, the Sponsor agrees to supply documentation acceptable to RCO that the cost of the property rights acquired has been established according to all applicable manuals and RCWs or WACs.
- B. Evidence of Title. The Sponsor agrees to provide documentation that shows the type of ownership interest for the property that has been acquired. This shall be done before any payment of financial assistance.
- C. Legal Description of Real Property Rights Acquired. The legal description of the real property rights purchased with funding assistance provided through this Agreement (and protected by a recorded conveyance of rights to the State of Washington) shall be delivered to RCO before final payment.
- D. Conveyance of Rights to the State of Washington. When real property rights (both fee simple and lesser interests) are acquired, the Sponsor agrees to execute an appropriate document (provided or approved by RCO) conveying certain rights and responsibilities to RCO or the Funding Entity on behalf of the State of Washington or another agency of the state, or federal agency, or other organization. These documents include a Deed of Right, Assignment of Rights, Easements and/or Leases as described below. The Sponsor agrees to use document language provided by RCO, to record the executed document in the County where the real property lies, and to provide a copy of the recorded document to RCO. The document required will vary depending on the project type, the real property rights being acquired and whether or not those rights are being acquired in perpetuity.
  - 1. **Deed of Right.** The Deed of Right as described in RCO Manual #3 conveys to the people of the state of Washington the right to preserve, protect, access, and/or use the property for public purposes consistent

with the funding source and project agreement. Sponsors shall use this document when acquiring real property rights that include the underlying land. This document may also be applicable for those easements where the Sponsor has acquired a perpetual easement for public purposes.

- 2. Assignment of Rights. The Assignment of Rights as described in RCO Manual #3 document transfers certain rights to RCO and the state such as public access, access for compliance, and enforcement. Sponsors shall use this document when an easement or lease is being acquired under this Agreement. The Assignment of Rights requires the signature of the underlying landowner and must be incorporated by reference in the easement document.
- 3. Easements and Leases. The Sponsor may incorporate required language from the Deed of Right or Assignment of Rights directly into the easement or lease document, thereby eliminating the requirement for a separate document. Language will depend on the situation; Sponsor must obtain RCO approval on the draft language prior to executing the easement or lease.
- E. **Real Property Acquisition and Relocation Assistance.** In the event that housing and relocation costs and procedures are required by local, state, tribal, or federal law, or rule; the Sponsor agrees to provide such housing and relocation assistance as a condition of the Agreement and receiving grant funds.
- F. Buildings and Structures. In general, grant funds are to be used for outdoor recreation, conservation, or salmon recovery. Sponsors agree to remove or demolish ineligible structures. Sponsor must consult with RCO regarding treatment of such structures and compliance with COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW SECTION, Archeological and Cultural Resources paragraph.
- G. Hazardous Substances.
  - 1. **Certification.** The Sponsor shall inspect, investigate, and conduct an environmental audit of the proposed acquisition site for the presence of hazardous substances, as defined in RCW 70.105D.020(13), and certify:
    - a. No hazardous substances were found on the site, or
    - b. Any hazardous substances found have been treated and/or disposed of in compliance with applicable state and federal laws, and the site deemed "clean."
  - 2. **Responsibility.** Nothing in this provision alters the Sponsor's duties and liabilities regarding hazardous substances as set forth in RCW 70.105D.
  - 3. Hold Harmless. Subject to the limitations provided in this Agreement, the Sponsor will defend, protect and hold harmless RCO and any and all of its

employees and/or agents, from and against liability, cost (including but not limited to all costs of defense and attorneys' fees) and loss of any nature from any and all claims or suits resulting from the presence of, or the release or threatened release of, hazardous substances on the property the Sponsor is acquiring, except to the extent, if any, that the State, its officers and agents, including RCO, caused or contributed to the release or should have inquired into or disclosed relevant information to the Sponsor.

### PROVISIONS APPLYING TO DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE, RENOVATION, AND RESTORATION PROJECTS

The following provisions shall be in force:

- A. **Operations and Maintenance.** Properties, structures, and facilities developed, maintained, or operated with the assistance of money granted per this Agreement and within the project area shall be built, operated, and maintained according to applicable regulations, laws, building codes, and health and public safety standards to assure a reasonably safe condition and to prevent premature deterioration. It is the Sponsor's sole responsibility to ensure the same are operated and maintained in a safe and operable condition. The RCO does not conduct safety inspections or employ or train staff for that purpose.
- B. Document Review and Approval. Prior to commencing construction or finalizing the design, the Sponsor agrees to submit one copy of all construction and restoration plans and specifications to RCO for review solely for compliance with the scope of work to be identified in the Agreement. RCO does not review for, and disclaims any responsibility to review for safety, suitability, engineering, compliance with code, or any matters other than the scope so identified. Although RCO staff may provide tentative guidance to a Sponsor on matters related to site accessibility by persons with a disability, it is the Sponsor's responsibility to confirm that all legal requirements for accessibility are met even if the RCO guidance would not meet such requirements.
  - 1. Change orders that impact the amount of funding or changes to the scope of the project as described to and approved by the RCO must receive prior written approval of the RCO.
- C. Control and Tenure. The Sponsor must provide documentation that shows appropriate tenure (such as landowner agreement, long-term lease, easement, or fee simple ownership) for the land proposed for construction. The documentation must meet current RCO requirements identified in this Agreement and any applicable manual as of the effective date of this Agreement and determines the long-term compliance period unless otherwise provided in any applicable manual, RCW, WAC, or as approved by the RCO.

D. Use of Best Management Practices. Sponsors are encouraged to use best management practices including those developed as part of the Washington State Aquatic Habitat Guidelines (AHG) Program. AHG documents include "Integrated Streambank Protection Guidelines", 2002; "Land Use Planning for Salmon, Steelhead and Trout: A land use planner's guide to salmonid habitat protection and recovery", 2009", "Protecting Nearshore Habitat and Functions in Puget Sound", 2010; "Stream Habitat Restoration Guidelines", 2012; "Water Crossing Design Guidelines", 2013; and "Marine Shoreline Design Guidelines", 2014. These documents, along with new and updated guidance documents, and other information are available on the AHG Web site. Sponsors are also encouraged to use best management practices developed by the Washington Invasive Species Council (WISC) described in "Reducing Accidental Introductions of Invasive Species" which is available on the WISC Web site.

#### LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROJECTS AND SPONSORS

- A. Long-Term Obligations. Sponsor shall comply with the terms of this Agreement.
- B. **Perpetuity.** For acquisition projects, unless otherwise allowed by applicable manual, policy, program rules, or this Agreement, or approved in writing by RCO, RCO requires that the project area continue to function as intended after the period of performance in perpetuity. The ability for RCO to enforce this long-term obligation for an acquisition project shall be as prescribed in this Agreement.
- C. Conversion. The Sponsor shall not at any time convert any real property (including any interest therein) or facility acquired pursuant to this Agreement, unless provided for in applicable statutes, rules, and policies. Conversion includes, but is not limited to, putting such property to uses other than those purposes for which funds were approved or transferring such property to another entity without prior approval via a written amendment to the Agreement. All real property or facilities acquired with funding assistance shall remain in the same ownership and in public use/access status in perpetuity unless otherwise expressly provided in the Agreement or applicable policy or unless a transfer or change in use is approved by the RCO through an amendment. Failure to comply with these obligations is a conversion. Further, if the project is subject to operation and or maintenance obligations, the failure to comply with such obligations, without cure after a reasonable period as determined by the RCO, is a conversion. Determination of whether a conversion has occurred shall be based upon the terms of this Agreement, including without limitation all WACs and manuals deemed applicable and all applicable laws.

For acquisition projects that are expressly term limited in the Agreement, such as one involving a lease or a term- limited restoration, renovation or development project or easement, the restriction on conversion shall apply only for the length of the term, unless otherwise provided by this Agreement, any applicable manual or WAC, or any applicable state or federal law. When a conversion has been determined to have occurred, the Sponsor is required to remedy the conversion per this Agreement and the applicable manuals, WACs and laws, and the RCO may pursue such remedies as the above allows.

### CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, USE, AND MAINTENANCE OF ASSISTED PROJECTS

The following provisions shall be in force for this agreement:

- A. **Property and facility operation and maintenance.** Sponsor must ensure that properties or facilities assisted with the grant funds, including undeveloped sites, are built, operated, used, and maintained:
  - 1. According to applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including public health standards and building codes;
  - 2. In a reasonably safe condition for the project's intended use;
  - 3. Throughout its estimated useful service life so as to prevent undue deterioration;
  - 4. In compliance with all applicable federal and state nondiscrimination laws, regulations and policies.
- B. **Open to the public.** Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Agreement, and in compliance with applicable statutes, rules, and applicable WACs and manuals, facilities must be open and accessible to the general public, and must:
  - 1. Be constructed, maintained, and operated to meet or exceed the minimum requirements of the most current applicable guidelines or rules, local or state codes, Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards, guidelines, or rules, including but not limited to: the International Building Code, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the Architectural Barriers Act, as amended and updated.
  - 2. Appear attractive and inviting to the public except for brief installation, construction, or maintenance periods.
  - 3. Be available for appropriate use by the general public at reasonable hours and times of the year, according to the type of area or facility, unless otherwise stated in RCO manuals, by a decision of the RCO director in writing. Sponsor shall notify the public of the availability for use by posting and updating that information on its website and by maintaining at entrances and/or other locations openly visible signs with such information.

#### PROVISIONS FOR SALMON RECOVERY FUNDING BOARD PROJECTS

For habitat restoration projects funded in part or whole with federal funds administered by the SRFB, the Sponsor shall not commence with clearing of riparian trees or in-water work unless either the Sponsor has complied with 50 C.F.R. § 223.203

(b)(8) (2000), limit 8 or until an Endangered Species Act consultation is finalized in writing by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Violation of this requirement may be grounds for terminating this Agreement. This section shall not be the basis for any enforcement responsibility by RCO.

#### PROVISIONS FOR ANY FEDERAL FUND SOURCE

- A. **Sub-Recipient** (Sponsor) must comply with the cost principles of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 Subpart E (2013). Unless otherwise indicated, the cost principles apply to the use of funds provided under this Agreement to include match and any in-kind matching donations. The applicability of the cost principles depends on the type of organization incurring the costs.
- B. Binding Official. Per 2 CFR 200.415, Sponsor certifies through its actions or those of authorized staff, at the time of a request for reimbursement, the following: "To the best of my knowledge and belief that the report is true, complete, and accurate, and the expenditures, disbursements and cash receipts are for the purposes and objectives set forth in the terms and conditions of the Federal award. I am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent information, or the omission of any material fact, may subject me to criminal, civil or administrative penalties for fraud, false statements, false claims or otherwise. (U.S. Code Title 18, Section 1001 and Title 31, Sections 3729-3730 and 3801-3812)."
- C. Equal Employment Opportunity. Except as otherwise provided under 41 C.F.R. Part 60, all contracts that meet the definition of "federally assisted construction contract" in 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause provided under 41 C.F.R. § 60- 1.4(b), in accordance with Executive Order 11246, Equal Employment Opportunity (30 Fed. Reg. 12319, 12935, 3 C.F.R. Part, 1964-1965 Comp., p. 339), as amended by Executive Order 11375, Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity, and implementing regulations at 41 C.F.R. Part 60 (Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor).

See 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II, paragraph C.

 Federally Assisted Construction Contract. The regulation at 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.3 defines a "federally assisted construction contract" as any agreement or modification thereof between any applicant and a person for construction work which is paid for in whole or in part with funds obtained from the Government or borrowed on the credit of the Government pursuant to any Federal program involving a grant, contract, loan, insurance, or guarantee, or undertaken pursuant to any Federal program involving such grant, contract, loan, insurance, or guarantee, or any application or modification thereof approved by the Government for a grant, contract, loan, insurance, or guarantee under which the applicant itself participates in the construction work.

- Construction Work. The regulation at 41 C.F.R. § 60-1.3 defines "construction work" as the construction, rehabilitation, alteration, conversion, extension, demolition or repair of buildings, highways, or other changes or improvements to real property, including facilities providing utility services. The term also includes the supervision, inspection, and other onsite functions incidental to the actual construction.
- D. Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 3141-3148). When required by federal program legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of \$2,000 awarded by non-federal entities (Sponsors) must include a provision for compliance with the Davis- Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141-3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. § 5, "Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction").

In accordance with the statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors must be required to pay wages not less than once a week. The non-federal entity (Sponsor) must place a copy of the current prevailing wage determination issued by the Department of Labor in each solicitation. The decision to award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the acceptance of the wage determination. The non-Federal entity (Sponsor) must report all suspected or reported violations to the federal awarding agency identified in Section H: Federal Fund Information.

The contracts must also include a provision for compliance with the Copeland "Anti- Kickback" Act (40 U. S. C. 3145), as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R Part 3, "Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States"). The Act provides that each contractor or subrecipient (Sponsor) must be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in the construction, completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the compensation to which he or she is otherwise entitled. The non-Federal entity (Sponsor) must report all suspected or reported violations to the Federal awarding agency identified in Section H: Federal Fund Information.

E. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 3701-3708). Where applicable, all contracts awarded by the non-federal entity (Sponsor) in excess of \$100,000 that involve the employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision for compliance with 40 U.S.C. 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 C.F.R. Part 5). Under 40 U.S.C. 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.

The requirements of 40 U.S.C. 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence.

- F. Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement. If the Federal award meets the definition of "funding agreement" under 37 C.F.R § 401.2(a) and the recipient or subrecipient (Sponsor) wishes to enter into a contract with a small business firm or nonprofit organization regarding the substitution of parties, assignment or performance of experimental, developmental, or research work under that "funding agreement," the recipient or subrecipient (Sponsor) must comply with the requirements of 37 C.F.R Part 401, "Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements," and any implementing regulations issued by the awarding agency.
- G. Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401-7671q.) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251-1387), as Amended. Contracts and subgrants of amounts in excess of \$150,000 must contain a provision that requires the non-Federal award to agree to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. 1251-1387). Violations must be reported to the Federal awarding agency identified in Section H: Federal Fund Information and the Regional Office of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).
- H. Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. 1352). By signing this Agreement, the Sponsor certifies (per the certification requirements of 31 U.S.C.) that none of the funds that the Sponsor has (directly or indirectly) received or will receive for this project from the United States or any agency thereof, have been used or shall be used to engage in the lobbying of the Federal Government or in litigation against the United States. Such lobbying includes any influence or attempt to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this project. Contractors that apply or bid for an award exceeding \$100,000 must file the required certification. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of

any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier must also disclose any lobbying with non-federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the non-federal award.

- I. Procurement of Recovered Materials. A non-federal entity (Sponsor) that is a state agency or agency of a political subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply with section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 C.F.R part 247 that contain the highest percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds \$10,000 or the value of the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded \$10,000; procuring solid waste management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; and establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered materials identified in the EPA guidelines.
- J. **Required Insurance.** The non-federal entity (Sponsor) must, at a minimum, provide the equivalent insurance coverage for real property and equipment acquired or improved with federal funds as provided to property owned by the non-federal entity. Federally-owned property need not be insured unless required by the terms and conditions of the Federal award (2 C.F.R § 200.310 (2013)).
- K. Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders 12549 and 12689). The Sponsor must not award a contract to parties listed on the government- wide exclusions in the System for Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) guidelines at 2 C.F.R § 180 that implement Executive Orders 12549 (3 C.F.R part 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 C.F.R part 1989 Comp., p. 235), "Debarment and Suspension." SAM Exclusions contains the names of parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549.
- L. **Conflict of Interest.** Sponsor agrees to abide by the conflict of interest policy and requirements of the federal funding agency established pursuant to 2 C.F.R 200.

## PROVISIONS FOR STATE PUGET SOUND AQUISTION AND RESTORATION FUNDS

The Sponsor agrees to the following terms and conditions:

- A. Cost Principles/Indirect Costs For State Agencies. GRANT RECIPIENT agrees to comply with the cost principles of 2 CFR 200 Subpart E as appropriate to the award. In addition to the US Environmental Protection Agency's General Terms and Conditions "Indirect Cost Rate Agreements," if the recipient does not have a previously established indirect cost rate, it agrees to prepare and submit its indirect cost rate proposal in accordance with 2 CFR 200 Appendix VII.
- B. **Credit and Acknowledgement.** In addition to Section 21: Acknowledgement and Signs, materials produced must display both the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Puget Sound Partnership (PSP) logos and the following credit line: "This project has been funded wholly or in part by the United States Environmental Protection Agency. The contents of this document do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of the Environmental Protection Agency, nor does mention of trade names or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation for use." This requirement is for the life of the product, whether during or after the Agreement period of performance.
- C. Hotel Motel Fire Safety Act. Sponsor agrees to ensure that all conference, meeting, convention, or training space funded in whole or part with federal funds, complies with the federal Hotel and Motel Fire Safety Act (PL 101-391, as amended). Sponsors may search the Hotel-Motel National Master List @ <u>http://www.usfa.dhs.gov/applications/hotel</u> to see if a property is in compliance or to find other information about the Act.
- D. Drug Free Workplace Certification. Sub-recipient (Sponsor) shall make an ongoing, good faith effort to maintain a drug-free workplace pursuant to the specific requirements set forth in 2 C.F.R. Part 1536 Subpart B. Additionally, in accordance with these regulations, the recipient organization shall identify all known workplaces under its federal awards, and keep this information on file during the performance of the award. Sponsors who are individuals must comply with the drug-free provisions set forth in 2 C.F.R. Part 1536 Subpart C. The consequences for violating this condition are detailed under 2 C.F.R. Part 1536 Subpart E.
- E. **Management Fees.** Management fees or similar charges in excess of the direct costs and approved indirect rates are not allowable. The term "management fees or similar charges" refers to the expenses added to direct costs in order to accumulate and reserve funds for ongoing business expenses, unforeseen liabilities or for other similar costs that are not allowable. Management fees or similar charges may not be used to improve or expand the project funded under this Agreement, except for the extent authorized as a direct cost of carrying out the scope of work.

F. **Trafficking in Persons and Trafficking Victim Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA).** This provision applies only to a sub-recipient (Sponsor), and all sub-awardees of sub-recipient (Sponsor), if any. Sub-recipient (Sponsor) shall include the following statement in all sub-awards made to any private entity under this Agreement.

"You as the sub-recipient, your employees, sub-awardees under this award, and sub-awardees' employees may not engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the award is in effect; procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the award is in effect; or use forced labor in the performance of the award or sub-awards under this Award."

The sub-recipient (Sponsor), and all sub-awardees of sub-recipient (Sponsor) must inform RCO immediately of any information you receive from any source alleging a violation of this prohibition during the award term.

The federal agency funding this Agreement may unilaterally terminate, without penalty, the funding award if this prohibition is violated, Section 106 of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000, as amended.

G. Lobbying. The chief executive officer of this recipient agency (Sponsor) shall ensure that no grant funds awarded under this Agreement are used to engage in lobbying of the Federal Government or in litigation against the United States, unless authorized under existing law. The recipient (Sponsor) shall abide by its respective Cost Principles (OMB Circulars A-21, A-87, and A-122), which generally prohibits the use of federal grant funds for litigation against the United States, or for lobbying or other political activities.

The Sponsor agrees to comply with 40 C.F.R. Part 34, New Restrictions on Lobbying. Sponsor shall include the language of this provision in award documents for all sub-awards exceeding \$100,000, and require that sub-awardees submit certification and disclosure forms accordingly.

In accordance with the Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, any Sponsor who makes a prohibited expenditure under 40 C.F.R. Part 34 or fails to file the required certification or lobbying forms shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$10,000 and not more than \$100,000 for each expenditure.

All contracts awarded by Sponsor shall contain, when applicable, the antilobbying provisions as stipulated in the Appendix at 40 C.F.R. Part 30.

Pursuant to Section 18 of the Lobbying Disclosure Act, Sponsor affirms that it is not a non-profit organization described in Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986; or that it is a non-profit organization described in Section 501(c)(4) of the code but does not and will not engage in lobbying activities as defined in Section 3 of the Lobbying Disclosure Act.

- H. **Reimbursement Limitation.** If the Sponsor expends more than the amount of RCO funding in this Agreement in anticipation of receiving additional funds from the RCO, it does so at its own risk. RCO is not legally obligated to reimburse the Sponsor for costs incurred in excess of the RCO approved budget.
- I. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Requirements. The Sponsor agrees to comply with the requirements of EPA's Utilization of Small, Minority and Women's Business Enterprises in procurements made under this award.
- J. **Minority and Women's Business Participation.** Sponsor agrees to solicit and recruit, to the maximum extent possible, certified minority owned (MBE) and women owned (WBE) businesses in purchases and contracts initiated after the effective date of this Agreement.

These goals are expressed as a percentage of the total dollars available for purchase or agreement and are as follows:

Purchased Goods 8% MBE 4% WBE

Purchased Services 10% MBE 4% WBE

Professional Services 10% MBE 4% WBE

Meeting these goals is voluntary and no agreement award or rejection shall be made based on achievement or non-achievement of the goals. Achievement of the goals is encouraged, however, and Sponsor and ALL prospective bidders or people submitting qualifications shall take the following affirmative steps in any procurement initiated after the effective date of this Agreement:

- 1. Include qualified minority and women's businesses on solicitation lists.
- 2. Assure that qualified minority and women's business are solicited whenever they are potential sources of services or supplies.
- 3. Divide the total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities, to permit maximum participation by qualified minority and women's businesses.
- 4. Establish delivery schedules, where work requirements permit, which will encourage participation of qualified minority and women's businesses.
- 5. Use the services and assistance of the State Office of Minority and Women's Business Enterprises (OMWBE) and the Office of Minority Business Enterprises of the U.S. Department of Commerce, as appropriate.
- K. **MBE/WBE Reporting.** In accordance with the deviation from 40 C.F.R. §33.502, signed November 8, 2013, DBE reporting is limited to annual reports and only

required for assistance agreements where one or more the following conditions are met:

- 1. There are any funds budgeted in the contractual/services, equipment or construction lines of the award;
- 2. \$3,000 or more is included for supplies; or
- 3. There are funds budgeted for subawards or loans in which the expected budget(s) meet the conditions as
- 4. Described in items (a) and (b).

When completing the form, recipients (Sponsors) should disregard the quarterly and semi-annual boxes in the reporting period Section 1B of the form. For annual submissions, the reports are due by October 30th of each year or 90 days after the end of the project period, whichever comes first.

The reporting requirement is based on planned procurements. Recipients (Sponsors) with funds budgeted for non-supply procurement and/or \$3,000 or more in supplies are required to report annually whether the planned procurements take place during the reporting period or not. If no procurements take place during the reporting period, the recipient should check the box in Section 5B hen completing the form.

MBE/WBE reports should be sent to the DBE Coordinator in the Sponsor's region. Contact information can be found at <u>http://www.epa.gov/osbp/contactpage.htm.</u> The coordinators also can answer any questions.

Final MBE/WBE reports must be submitted within 90 days after the project period of the grant ends. To be in compliance with regulations, the Sponsor must submit a final MBE/WBE report. Non-compliance may impact future competitive grant proposals. The current EPA Form 5700-52A can be found at the EPA Office of Small Business Program's Home Page at <u>http://www.epa.gov/osbp/dbe\_reporting.htm.</u>

- L. **Procurement involving an EPA Financial Assistance Agreement.** Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 33.301, the Sponsor agrees to make the following six good faith efforts whenever procuring construction, equipment, services and supplies under an EPA financial assistance agreement, and to require that sub-recipients (Sponsors), and prime contractors also comply. Records documenting compliance with the six good faith efforts shall be retained:
  - 1. Ensure Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBEs) are made aware of contracting opportunities to the fullest extent practicable through outreach and recruitment activities. For Indian Tribal, State and Local and

Government Sponsors, this will include placing DBEs on solicitation lists and soliciting them whenever they are potential sources.

- 2. Make information on forthcoming opportunities available to DBEs and arrange time frames for contracts and establish delivery schedules, where the requirements permit, in a way that encourages and facilitates participation by DBEs in the competitive process. This includes, whenever possible, posting solicitations for bids or proposals for a minimum of 30 calendar days before the bid or proposal closing date.
- Consider in the contracting process whether firms competing for large contracts could subcontract with DBEs. For Indian Tribal, State and local Government Sponsors, this will include dividing total requirements when economically feasible into smaller tasks or quantities to permit maximum participation by DBEs in the competitive process.
- 4. Encourage contracting with a consortium of DBEs when an agreement is too large for one of these firms to handle individually.
- Use the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration (SBA) and the Minority Business Development of the Department of Commerce.
- 6. If the Sponsor awards subcontracts, require the Sponsor to take the steps in paragraphs (a) through (e) of this section.
- M. Lobbying & Litigation. By signing this Agreement, the Sponsor certifies that none of the funds received from this Agreement shall be used to engage in the lobbying of the Federal Government or in litigation against the United States unless authorized under existing law.

The chief executive officer of this Sponsor agency shall ensure that no grant funds awarded under this Agreement are used to engage in lobbying of the Federal Government or in litigation against the United States unless authorized under existing law. The Sponsor shall abide by its respective Attachment in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, which prohibits the use of federal grant funds for litigation against the United States or for lobbying or other political activities.

For subawards exceeding \$100,000, EPA requires the following certification and disclosure forms:

- 1. Certification Regarding Lobbying, EPA Form 6600-06: http://www.epa.gov/ogd/AppKit/form/Lobbying\_sec.pdf
- 2. Disclosure of Lobbying Activities, SF LLL: http://www.epa.gov/ogd/AppKit/form/sflllin\_sec.pdf
- 3. Legal expenses required in the administration of Federal programs are

allowable. Legal expenses for prosecution of claims against the Federal Government are unallowable.

N. Payment to Consultants. EPA participation in the salary rate (excluding overhead) paid to individual consultants retained by recipients (Sponsors) or by a recipients' (Sponsor's) contractors or subcontractors shall be limited to the maximum daily rate for Level IV of the Executive Schedule (formerly GS-18), to be adjusted annually. This limit applies to consultation services of designated individuals with specialized skills who are paid at a daily or hourly rate. This rate does not include transportation and subsistence costs for travel performed (the recipient will pay these in accordance with his/her normal travel reimbursement practices).

Subagreements with firms for services that are awarded using the procurement requirements in 40 C.F.R. Parts 30 or 31, are not affected by this limitation unless the terms of the contract provide the recipient (Sponsor) with responsibility for the selection, direction and control of the individual who will be providing services under the contract at an hourly or daily rate of compensation. See 40 C.F.R. § 30.27(b) or 40 C.F.R. § 31.369(j), as applicable, for additional information.

- a. As of January 1, 2020, the limit is \$654.71 per day \$81.83 per hour. This amount is updated annually.
- O. **Peer Review.** Where appropriate, prior to finalizing any significant technical products the Principal Investigator (PI) of this project must solicit advice, review, and feedback from a technical review or advisory group consisting of relevant subject matter specialists. A record of comments and a brief description of how respective comments are addressed by the PI will be provided to the Project Monitor prior to releasing any final reports or products resulting from the funded study.
- P. International Travel (Including Canada). All International Travel must be approved by the US Environmental Protection Agency's Office of International and Tribal Affairs (OITA) BEFORE travel occurs. Even a brief trip to a foreign country, for example to attend a conference, requires OITA approval. Please contact your Partnership Project manager as soon as possible if travel is planned out of the country, including Canada and/or Mexico, so that they can submit a request to the EPA Project Officer if they approve of such travel.
- Q. Unliquidated Obligations (ULO). Sub-recipients, and all sub-awardees of Sub-Recipients, if any, should manage their agreement and subaward funding in ways that reduce the length of time that federal funds obligated and committed to subaward projects are unspent (not yet drawn down through disbursements to sub-recipients and sub-awardees).
- R. Light Refreshments and/Or Meals

Unless the event(s) and all of its components are described in the approved workplan, the recipient agrees to obtain prior approval from EPA for the use of grant funds for light refreshments and/or meals served at meetings, conferences, training workshops, and outreach activities (events). The recipient must send requests for approval to the EPA Project Officer and include:

- a. An estimated budget and description for the light refreshments, meals, and/or beverages to be served at the event(s);
- b. A description of the purpose, agenda, location, length and timing for the event; and,
- c. An estimated number of participants in the event and a description of their roles.

Cost for light refreshments and meals for recipient staff meetings and similar dayto-day activities are not allowable under EPA assistance agreements.

## S. State Grant Cybersecurity

- a. The recipient agrees that when collecting and managing environmental data under this assistance agreement, it will protect the data by following all applicable State law cybersecurity requirements.
- b. (1) EPA must ensure that any connections between the recipient's network or information system and EPA networks used by the recipient to transfer data under this agreement, are secure.
- c. (2) The recipient agrees that any subawards it makes under this agreement will require the subrecipient to comply with the requirements in (b)(1) if the subrecipient's network or information system is connected to EPA networks to transfer data to the agency using systems other than the Environmental Information Exchange Network or EPA's Central Data Exchange.

## ORDER OF PRECEDENCE

This Agreement is entered into, pursuant to, and under the authority granted by applicable federal and state laws. The provisions of the Agreement shall be construed to conform to those laws. In the event of a direct and irreconcilable conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any applicable statute, rule, or policy or procedure, the conflict shall be resolved by giving precedence in the following order:

- A. Federal law and binding executive orders;
- B. Code of federal regulations;
- C. Terms and conditions of a grant award to the state from the federal government;

- D. Federal grant program policies and procedures adopted by a federal agency that are required to be applied by federal law;
- E. Applicable State law (constitution, statute);
- F. Applicable Washington Administrative Code;
- G. Applicable RCO manuals.

## LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY

Only RCO's Director or RCO's delegate by writing (delegation to be made prior to action) shall have the authority to alter, amend, modify, or waive any clause or condition of this Agreement; provided that any such alteration, amendment, modification, or waiver of any clause or condition of this Agreement is not effective or binding unless made as a written amendment to this Agreement and signed by the RCO Director or delegate.

### WAIVER OF DEFAULT

Waiver of any default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default. Waiver or breach of any provision of the Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of the Agreement unless stated to be such in writing, signed by the director, or the director's designee, and attached as an amendment to the original Agreement.

## APPLICATION REPRESENTATIONS-MISREPRESENTATIONS OR INACCURACY OR BREACH

The Funding Entity (if different from RCO) and RCO relies on the Sponsor's application in making its determinations as to eligibility for, selection for, and scope of, funding grants. Any misrepresentation, error or inaccuracy in any part of the application may be deemed a breach of this Agreement.

### SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE

RCO may enforce this Agreement by the remedy of specific performance, which usually will mean completion of the project as described in this Agreement and /or enforcement of long-term or other obligations. However, the remedy of specific performance shall not be the sole or exclusive remedy available to RCO. No remedy available to the RCO shall be deemed exclusive. The RCO may elect to exercise any, a combination of, or all of the remedies available to it under this Agreement, or under any provision of law, common law, or equity, including but not limited to seeking full or partial repayment of the grant amount paid and damages.

## TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION

The RCO will require strict compliance by the Sponsor with all the terms of this

Agreement including, but not limited to, the requirements of the applicable statutes, rules, and RCO policies, and with the representations of the Sponsor in its application for a grant as finally approved by RCO. For federal awards, notification of termination will comply with 2 C.F.R. § 200.340.

## A. For Cause.

- 1. The RCO director may suspend or terminate the obligation to provide funding to the Sponsor under this Agreement:
  - a. If the Sponsor breaches any of the Sponsor's obligations under this Agreement;
  - b. If the Sponsor fails to make progress satisfactory to the RCO director toward completion of the project by the completion date set out in this Agreement. Included in progress is adherence to milestones and other defined deadlines; or
  - c. If the primary and secondary Sponsor(s) cannot mutually agree on the process and actions needed to implement the project.
- 2. Prior to termination, the RCO shall notify the Sponsor in writing of the opportunity to cure. If corrective action is not taken within 30 days or such other time period that the director approves in writing, the Agreement may be terminated. In the event of termination, the Sponsor shall be liable for damages or other relief as authorized by law and/or this Agreement.
- 3. RCO reserves the right to suspend all or part of the Agreement, withhold further payments, or prohibit the Sponsor from incurring additional obligations of funds during the investigation of any alleged breach and pending corrective action by the Sponsor, or a decision by the RCO to terminate the Contract.
- B. For Convenience. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, RCO may, by ten (10) days written notice, beginning on the second day after the mailing, terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part when it is in the best interest of the state. If this Agreement is so terminated, RCO shall be liable only for payment required under the terms of this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination. A claimed termination for cause shall be deemed to be a "Termination for Convenience" if it is determined that:
  - 1. The Sponsor was not in default; or
  - 2. Failure to perform was outside Sponsor's control, fault or negligence.

### C. Rights or Remedies of the RCO.

1. The rights and remedies of RCO provided in this Agreement are not

exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law.

- 2. In the event this Agreement is terminated by the director, after any portion of the grant amount has been paid to the Sponsor under this Agreement, the director may require that any amount paid be repaid to RCO for redeposit into the account from which the funds were derived. However, any repayment shall be limited to the extent it would be inequitable and represent a manifest injustice in circumstances where the project will fulfill its fundamental purpose for substantially the entire period of performance and of long-term obligation.
- D. Non Availability of Funds. The obligation of the RCO to make payments is contingent on the availability of state and federal funds through legislative appropriation and state allotment. If amounts sufficient to fund the grant made under this Agreement are not appropriated to RCO for expenditure for this Agreement in any biennial fiscal period, RCO shall not be obligated to pay any remaining unpaid portion of this grant unless and until the necessary action by the Legislature or the Office of Financial Management occurs. If RCO participation is suspended under this section for a continuous period of one year, RCO's obligation to provide any future funding under this Agreement shall terminate. Termination of the Agreement under this section is not subject to appeal by the Sponsor.
  - Suspension: The obligation of the RCO to manage contract terms and make payments is contingent upon the state appropriating state and federal funding each biennium. In the event the state is unable to appropriate such funds by the first day of each new biennium RCO reserves the right to suspend the Agreement, with ten (10) days written notice, until such time funds are appropriated. Suspension will mean all work related to the contract must cease until such time funds are obligated to RCO and the RCO provides notice to continue work.

### **DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

<u>General.</u> This Dispute Resolution section applies only to disputes between the Sponsor and RCO regarding the Parties rights and responsibilities under this Agreement, including disputes concerning any claims of the Parties for any indemnification pursuant to this Agreement for third party claims.

The parties shall, if possible, first attempt to resolve any disputes through Informal Negotiations as described below. If that is not possible or is unsuccessful, the parties shall elect to resolve the dispute through (1) a Dispute Hearing process if agreeable to both parties, or (2) binding arbitration; provided the Sponsor shall have the option to elect to resolve the dispute in state or federal court if such courts possess jurisdiction over the dispute in question.

For all of the dispute resolution methods, (1) each party shall bear its own attorney's fees and costs; and (2) during utilization of any and/or all of the mediation, arbitration and/or Dispute Hearing steps and processes, any statutes of limitation shall be tolled, and in no circumstances shall any time utilizing such steps and processes be considered when determining whether any statutes of limitation have expired.

Informal Negotiations. The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement promptly by negotiation between executives who have authority to settle the controversy and who are at a higher level of management than the persons with direct responsibility for administration of this Agreement. Any party may give the other party written notice of any dispute not resolved in the normal course of business. Within 15 days after delivery of the notice, the receiving party shall submit to the other a written response. The notice and response shall include with reasonable particularity (a) a statement of each party's position and a summary of arguments supporting that position, and (b) the name and title of the executive who will represent that party and of any other person who will accompany the executive. Within 30 days after delivery of the notice, the executives of both parties shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and place.

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the negotiating parties, the above-described negotiation shall end at the close of the first meeting of executives described above. Such closure shall not preclude continuing or later negotiations, if desired.

All offers, promises, conduct and statements, whether oral or written, made in the course of the negotiation by any of the parties, their agents, employees, experts and attorneys are confidential, privileged and inadmissible for any purpose, including impeachment, in arbitration or other proceeding involving the parties, provided that evidence that is otherwise admissible or discoverable shall not be rendered inadmissible or non-discoverable as a result of its use in the negotiation.

<u>Dispute Hearing.</u> In order for this section to apply to the resolution of any specific dispute or disputes, the other party must agree in writing that the procedure under this section shall be used to resolve those specific issues.

A party's request for a dispute hearing must be in writing and clearly state:

- A. The disputed issues;
- B. The relative positions of the parties;
- C. The Sponsor's name, address, project title, and the assigned project number.

The dispute shall be heard by a panel of three persons consisting of one person chosen by the Sponsor, one person chosen by the RCO director, and a third person chosen by the two persons initially appointed. If a third person cannot be agreed on, the third person shall be chosen by the funding board's chair.

Any hearing under this section shall be informal, with the specific processes to be

determined by the dispute panel according to the nature and complexity of the issues involved. The process may be solely based on written material, if the parties so agree. The disputes panel shall be governed by the provisions of this Agreement in deciding the disputes.

The parties shall be bound by the majority decision of the dispute panelists, unless the remedy directed by that panel is beyond the legal authority of either or both parties to perform, as necessary, or is otherwise unlawful.

Request for a dispute hearing under this section by either party shall be delivered or mailed to the other party. The request shall be delivered or mailed within thirty (30) days of the date the requesting party has received notice of the action or position of the other party which it wishes to dispute, or completion of any Informal Negotiations conducted by the parties concerning the disputed action or position, whichever is later.

All fees and costs associated with the implementation of this process (excluding each party's own attorney's fees and costs) shall be shared equally by the parties.

<u>Arbitration.</u> In the event the Parties do not agree to resolve the dispute through a Dispute Hearing Process as set forth above, the parties shall resolve any controversy, claim or dispute concerning the making, formation, validity, obligations under, or breach of, this Agreement (Disputed Matter) through binding arbitration conducted under Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS) rules. Prior to invoking arbitration, the parties may agree to mediation, in which event the parties will use their best efforts to select a mediator as soon as possible. The mediator's costs and attendant costs of mediation shall be borne equally by the parties.

Either party may make a written demand for binding arbitration before a qualified arbitrator in Seattle, Washington, or at another place as the parties may agree in writing. Request for binding arbitration under this section by either party shall be delivered or mailed to the other party. The request shall be delivered or mailed within thirty (30) days of the date the requesting party has received notice of the action or position of the other party which it wishes to dispute, or completion of any Informal Negotiations conducted by the parties concerning the disputed action or position, whichever is later. A gualified arbitrator will mean a person generally familiar with the subject matter of the Disputed Matter with at least five years of arbitration experience, and knowledge of federal Indian law, if federal Indian law is part of the dispute. If the parties cannot agree on a single arbitrator, a three-person arbitration panel shall be selected as follows: each party shall select an arbitration panel member and the two selected panelists shall select a third. If the panelists cannot agree on a third arbitrator. the third arbitrator shall be selected by JAMS. The arbitration shall be administered by JAMS pursuant to its Expedited Procedures as now written or hereafter amended. Each party will pay for its own attorneys' fees and costs. The substantially prevailing party is entitled to reimbursement from the other party of all moneys it paid to the third arbitrator or JAMS related to the arbitration proceeding. The arbitrator's award shall be binding upon the parties and no appeal shall be permitted, except for a request to vacate under RCW 7.04A.230 or 9 U.S.C. § 10.

## GOVERNING LAW/VENUE

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the authorities set forth in the Order of Preference section. In the event of a lawsuit involving this Agreement, venue shall be in the jurisdiction where the project is situated, if venue there is legally proper, and if not, in another jurisdiction where venue is legally proper.

# PROVISIONS FOR FEDERALLY RECOGNIZED INDIAN TRIBES

A. Limited Waiver of Sovereign Immunity. The Tribe expressly retains all rights and benefits of sovereign immunity. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed as a waiver of sovereign immunity or as increasing the Tribe's liability beyond any statutory or other limitation of liability, except as expressly stated herein.

The Tribe hereby grants and provides a limited waiver of sovereign immunity for the following purposes as may be needed by Sponsor or RCO:

- to enforce the terms of this Agreement, including the indemnification provisions, and any documents recorded pursuant to this Agreement, such as those related to real property interests in the form of deeds, easements, or covenants,
- 2. to enforce the Dispute Resolution provisions of this Agreement,
- 3. to compel arbitration of a Disputed Matter,
- 4. to enforce any mediation agreement, Disputes Panel Decision, or Arbitration award or judgment, and/or vacate an Arbitration award or judgment under RCW 7.04A.230 or 9 U.S.C. § 10,
- 5. to enforce the long-term obligations of this agreement.
- B. This limited waiver of sovereign immunity shall apply to all matters in the above subsection A in federal district court, and if the federal district court lacks jurisdiction, then in a State court of competent jurisdiction. Such court may render judgment and issue such orders as may be necessary to enforce such awards or judgments. This waiver does not extend to and is not for the benefit of any third party and shall not be enforceable by any third party or by any assignee of the parties; nor does it extend to any other type of action or to any other forum or regarding any other matter. No award for punitive damages of any kind may be made or enforced against the Tribe.
  - Duration of Limited Waiver of Sovereign Immunity described in subsection A above. The limited waiver of sovereign immunity shall apply during the period of performance of this Agreement and then be limited as follows:

(1) For land acquisition projects: Limited to the 10 years following the end date of this agreement, however, the waiver shall be in perpetuity for fee

simple property acquisitions or perpetual easements. However, the limited waiver of sovereign immunity in perpetuity is limited to the sole purpose of enforcing only subsections B and C of the Long-Term Obligations of the Projects and Sponsors section of this Agreement. Long-term obligations include any property or value owed to RCO for any conversion of the project real property to other purposes. For land acquisitions that are term limited, any limited waiver of sovereign immunity shall be limited to the longer of the 10 years following the end date of this agreement or the time required to enforce long-term obligations but only then for any relief owed to RCO for any conversion of real property to other purposes.

(2) For restoration projects: Limited to the 10 years following the end date of this agreement.

(3) For non-capital projects: Limited to the period of performance. Noncapital projects include Planning, Research, Monitoring, Education, Enforcement, Maintenance, Preliminary Design, Assessments, Acquisition of Water Rights, and Studies.

(4) For capital projects: Limited to the 25 years after the end date of this agreement. Capital projects include Development and Renovation (construction and/or renovation), and completed final designs.

- C. Attached to this Agreement is a copy of the Tribal Council (or other governing body, as may apply) resolution (or similar document) that provides a limited waiver of sovereign immunity. In the event a resolution is not the means by which the tribe waives its sovereign immunity, then another document describing the authorization of a limited waiver of sovereign immunity shall be attached.
- D. Liability Limits. Any payment of a monetary judgment arising from a resolution or judgment under the Dispute Resolution section, or any other defense and/or indemnity obligation under this Agreement, Sponsor's long-term obligations, or a default of an explicit duty owed by the Tribe to the RCO under the terms of this Agreement, shall be limited by and to the following:

(1) For Noncapital Projects (Planning, Research, Monitoring, Education, Enforcement, Maintenance, Preliminary Design, Assessments, Acquisition of Water Rights, and Studies.): The RCO grant amount.

(2) For Restoration, Development (construction/renovation), Renovation, Acquisition, and completed final design projects: a per occurrence limit of \$1 million (with a maximum aggregate limit of \$3 million), or the grant amount, whichever greater, or in the case of a long-term obligation the cost of conversion or replacement property based on the current fair market value of a replacement property or an equivalent amount if the Sponsor has not obtained or is unable to obtain replacement property.

E. In disputes between the parties, each party shall bear its own attorneys' fees and

costs. Attorneys' fees and costs in connection with third party claims subject to the Sponsor's indemnification of RCO shall not reduce or otherwise affect the Sponsor's liability limits in subsection D above.

### SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to be severable. If any term or provision is illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the Agreement.

#### END OF AGREEMENT

This is the end of the agreement.